§ 7205. Fraudulent withholding exemption certificate or failure to supply information

(a) Withholding on wages.--Any individual required to supply information to his employer under section 3402 who willfully supplies false or fraudulent information, or who willfully fails to supply information thereunder which would require an increase in the tax to be withheld under section 3402, (§ 3402. Income tax collected at source) shall, in addition to any other penalty provided by law, upon conviction thereof, be fined not more than $1,000, or imprisoned not more than 1 year, or both.

(b) Backup withholding on interest and dividends.--If any individual willfully makes a false certification under paragraph (1) or (2)(C) of section 3406(d), then such individual shall, in addition to any other penalty provided by law, upon conviction thereof, be fined not more than $1,000, or imprisoned not more than 1 year, or both. 

Imprisonment of defendant for failure to file income tax returns or filing false withholding exemption certificates did not violate prohibition on involuntary servitude under U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 13. U.S. v. Drefke, C.A.8 (Mo.) 1983, 707 F.2d 978, certiorari denied 104 S.Ct. 359, 464 U.S. 942, 78 L.Ed.2d 321.

This section prohibiting the making of a false and fraudulent statement in a withholding exemption certificate to the effect that the person anticipates no liability for federal income tax is not impermissibly ambiguous on theory that it can be interpreted as referring only to money owed and as not applying to one who believes that he has already had sufficient amount withheld during the tax year to satisfy his tax obligation. U. S. v. Echols, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1982, 677 F.2d 498, rehearing denied 683 F.2d 1373.

In prosecution of defendant for willfully supplying false and fraudulent information to his employer on a withholding exemption certificate form, where defendant injected his religion into lawsuit by asserting defense of good-faith reliance on exemption for member of religious order, government could, without violating defendant's right to freedom of religion under U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 1, refute that defense by showing defendant did not have a sincere belief in the church, but set it up for tax avoidance purposes. U. S. v. Peister, C.A.10 (Colo.) 1980, 631 F.2d 658, certiorari denied 101 S.Ct. 945, 449 U.S. 1126, 67 L.Ed.2d 113.

Contentions that the Constitution does not authorize Congress to enact criminal penalties on taxation matters and that withholding system for taxes was prohibited by bill of attainder clause of the Constitution were frivolous and did not require reversal of conviction of supplying a false and fraudulent statement on an Internal Revenue Service form W-4 submitted to the employer. U. S. v. Evans, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1978, 574 F.2d 1287, certiorari denied 99 S.Ct. 1220, 440 U.S. 910, 59 L.Ed.2d 458.

By resort to U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 1, taxpayer could not escape criminal liability for willfully and falsely stating on each of two withholding exemption certificates that he had incurred no liability or federal income tax for preceding tax year and anticipated no such liability for current tax year. U. S. v. Quilty, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1976, 541 F.2d 172.

Taxpayer's act of claiming 15 exemptions on withholding exemption certificate with knowledge that 13 of them were not permitted by the tax law, for purpose of protesting Vietnam War, was subject to criminal penalty despite contention that such conduct, viewed in the context of symbolic speech, was protected by U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 1.  U. S. v. Malinowski, C.A.3 (Pa.) 1973, 472 F.2d 850, certiorari denied 93 S.Ct. 2164, 411 U.S. 970, 36 L.Ed.2d 693.

Right against self-incrimination under U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 5 did not authorize defendant to refuse to disclose information concerning his income. U.S. v. Drefke, C.A.8 (Mo.) 1983, 707 F.2d 978, certiorari denied 104 S.Ct. 359, 464 U.S. 942, 78 L.Ed.2d 321.

Taxpayer, a tax protester who utilized tax evasion scheme whereby he claimed 99 withholding exemptions on withholding tax form but who was not married and had no dependents and who asserted self-incrimination privilege of U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 5 on his year-end federal income tax returns in lieu of providing any information from which his tax liability could be calculated, could not claim U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 5 as a defense to prosecution for failure to file a tax return, on ground that a truthfully completed return would have constituted evidence tending to incriminate him as regards filing of false withholding form. U. S. v. Carlson, C.A.9 (Cal.) 1980, 617 F.2d 518, certiorari denied 101 S.Ct. 564, 449 U.S. 1010, 66 L.Ed.2d 468.

Where defendant voluntarily filed a form W-4E with his employer, right against self-incrimination under U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 5 did not preclude the use of such form in prosecution for willfully supplying false fraudulent federal withholding tax information.  U. S. v. Warinner, C.A.8 (Minn.) 1979, 607 F.2d 210, certiorari denied 100 S.Ct. 1313, 445 U.S. 927, 63 L.Ed.2d 760.

Taxpayer was not entitled to claim privilege against self-incrimination as defense to prosecution for failure to file state income tax returns on ground that truthfully completed returns would have constituted evidence tending to incriminate him concerning alleged filing of false withholding certificate. People v. McLemore, Cal.App. 4 Dist.1985, 212 Cal.Rptr. 665, 166 Cal.App.3d 718, review denied.

In prosecution for filing false withholding allowance certificates, there was no violation of defendants' rights under Privacy Act, section 552a of Title 5, when government introduced in evidence certain documents which were required by law to be filed by defendants with their employers and with government where instructions accompanying forms submitted by defendants contained necessary admonition. U. S. v. Amon, C.A.10 (Colo.) 1981, 669 F.2d 1351, certiorari denied 103 S.Ct. 57, 459 U.S. 825, 74 L.Ed.2d 61.

This section governing offense of wilfully filing a false withholding statement with an employer only applies to persons who fall within section 3402 of this title requiring an employee to file with his employer on or before date of commencement of employment a signed withholding exemption certificate specifying number of withholding exemptions employee claims. U. S. v. Pryor, C.A.8 (Mo.) 1978, 574 F.2d 440.

Applicability of this section is not limited to false statements of fact, but covers willfully supplying of false or fraudulent information and the nub of the offense is whether subject matter of the false representation is material, not whether it is factual or legal. U. S. v. Quilty, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1976, 541 F.2d 172.

The "false information" in this section forbidding the wilful supplying of false information concerning amount of income tax exemptions to which an employee is entitled refers only to that information which employee submits on withholding exemption certificate. U. S. v. Malinowski, E.D.Pa.1972, 347 F.Supp. 347, affirmed 472 F.2d 850, certiorari denied 93 S.Ct. 2164, 411 U.S. 970, 36 L.Ed.2d 693.

In prosecution for violating this section making it a misdemeanor to willfully supply false information upon an Internal Revenue Service form, Government need not prove fraud, loss of revenue, or reliance by Government; offense is made out when a person required by law to complete and file a W-4 intentionally uses form to supply false information. U. S. v. Smith, C.A.9 (Idaho) 1973, 487 F.2d 329, certiorari denied 94 S.Ct. 2396, 416 U.S. 989, 40 L.Ed.2d 767.

It was no defense to charge of filing false Internal Revenue Service income tax withholding forms that defendant's employer, under IRS regulations, should not have accepted such forms. U. S. v. Wellendorf, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1978, 574 F.2d 1289.

In prosecution for supplying false information to employer for tax-withholding purposes, the criterion is not whether the employer and the government were, or could have been, deceived. U. S. v. Hudler, C.A.10 (Colo.) 1979, 605 F.2d 488, certiorari denied 100 S.Ct. 1647, 445 U.S. 961, 64 L.Ed.2d 236.

Defendant's employee status is an essential element of the offense of willfully supplying false or fraudulent income tax withholding exemption statements to employer. U. S. v. Herzog, C.A.5 (Fla.) 1980, 632 F.2d 469, rehearing denied 636 F.2d 315.

Although information charged defendant with supplying false and fraudulent information on federal income tax-withholding exemption certificate, while this section under which charge was brought was stated in the disjunctive, i.e., supplying false or fraudulent information, conviction on guilty verdict was not required to be overturned on ground that the Government failed to prove commonlaw fraud elements of injury and reliance where the Government clearly established that defendant had wilfully supplied false information, in that he knew when he filed W-4 form claiming ten exemptions he was entitled to only two exemptions. U. S. v. Smith, C.A.10 (Utah) 1973, 484 F.2d 8, certiorari denied 94 S.Ct. 1566, 415 U.S. 978, 39 L.Ed.2d 874.

Although statute did not require defendant employee to file the withholding exemption certificate, defendant's act in supplying false information included on form did constitute an offense. U. S. v. Carter, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1978, 568 F.2d 453.

Claim that because employer on advice of IRS ignored certificates asking employer to cease all withholding on ground that employee was "exempt" from taxation did not preclude conviction; the statute forbids the filing of "false" forms, and reliance on the forms is not an element of the offense. U.S. v. Thomas, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1986, 788 F.2d 1250, certiorari denied 107 S.Ct. 187, 479 U.S. 853, 93 L.Ed.2d 121.

To prove a violation of this section government is not required to show bad purpose or evil intent. U. S. v. Hinderman, C.A.10 (Okla.) 1980, 625 F.2d 994.

In prosecution for submitting false income tax withholding certificates, trial court correctly defined "willfulness" in context of criminal tax violation as voluntary and intentional violation of known legal duty. U. S. v. Benson, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1979, 592 F.2d 257.   See, also, U.S. v. Olson, C.A.Neb.1978, 576 F.2d 1267, certiorari denied 99 S.Ct. 256, 439 U.S. 896, 58 L.Ed.2d 242.

In order for a taxpayer to be convicted of supplying "false or fraudulent" information on withholding exemption certificate, the information must either be supplied with an intent to deceive, or false in the sense of deceptive, of such a nature that it could reasonably affect withholding to the detriment of the government; mere proof that taxpayer submitted incorrect information is insufficient; but the words "false or fraudulent" should not be read as meaning false and fraudulent. U. S. v. Snider, C.A.4 (N.C.) 1974, 502 F.2d 645.

Despite contention that such testimony referred to offense with which defendant was not charged, testimony that defendant had not filed federal income tax return for given year, offered in defendant's prosecution for filing false Internal Revenue Service income tax withholding forms, was admissible as being probative as to defendant's intent while filing such withholding forms. U. S. v. Wellendorf, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1978, 574 F.2d 1289.

Mistaken belief that a statute is unconstitutional and that one has the right to violate it is not a "mistake of law" such as will provide a defense to a charge of willful violation of this section. U. S. v. Ness, C.A.9 (Cal.) 1981, 652 F.2d 890, certiorari denied 102 S.Ct. 976, 454 U.S. 1126, 71 L.Ed.2d 113.

To establish that defendant knowingly made false withholding claims, there was no requirement that government establish number of withholding claims to which defendant was entitled. U. S. v. McDonough, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1979, 603 F.2d 19.

In prosecution of spouses for the willful filing of a false withholding certificate, the introduction of evidence of a codefendant's participation in tax protest seminar constituted harmless error, since the evidence overwhelmingly established that defendants took numerous deductions as a form of tax protest, and that the jury could reasonably have convicted both defendants even without the incremental evidence that the codefendant had also participated in the protest scheme. U. S. v. Anderson, C.A.5 (Ga.) 1978, 577 F.2d 258.

Evidence that defendant filed employee withholding exemption form with employer and claimed 99 exemptions and also filed document declaring that he had no tax liability in 1975 and anticipated none in 1976 and that he also stated that he owed no income tax because U.S.C.A. Const. Amend. 16 was never properly ratified, because Federal Reserve notes did not constitute real money and because income tax laws denied him equal protection permitted conviction for filing false and fraudulent statement. U. S. v. Arlt, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1978, 567 F.2d 1295, rehearing denied 570 F.2d 949, certiorari denied 98 S.Ct. 2250, 436 U.S. 911, 56 L.Ed.2d 412.

Although taxpayer when filing earlier tax return enclosed a letter protesting government policies and proclaimed a general intent to seek ways to resist payment of taxes, since he did not repeat protest in letter attached to amended W-4 form with employer showing that he had 20 dependents rather than the previously claimed six and did not in any way refer to protest when asked for an explanation of increase in number of dependents, his conviction for wilfully supplying employer with false or fraudulent information about income tax withholding could not be set aside on theory that his claim of dependents could have deceived no one. Shea v. U.S., C.A.4 (Va.) 1974, 506 F.2d 1226.

Taxpayer who, to protest the war in Vietnam, admittedly claimed 15 exemptions on employee withholding exemption certificate with knowledge that 13 of such exemptions were not permitted by section 3402 of this title could be found to have "wilfully" made false statement on such form if he acted voluntarily and intentionally and with specific intent to do something forbidden by the law, despite contention that act is wilful only if done with a bad purpose, without justifiable excuse, and without ground for believing that it was lawful. U. S. v. Malinowski, C.A.3 (Pa.) 1973, 472 F.2d 850, certiorari denied 93 S.Ct. 2164, 411 U.S. 970, 36 L.Ed.2d 693.

In prosecution for making false and fraudulent statements in an Internal Revenue Service form, trial court properly considered defendant's active participation in an organized effort to violate the law. U. S. v. Gigax, C.A.10 (Colo.) 1979, 605 F.2d 507.

In prosecution for supplying false information on employees' withholding certificate, trial court did not err in permitting Government to present testimony of Internal Revenue Service agent concerning similar acts committed by other employees and concerning meetings held to discuss protests against tax system, in view of fact that such testimony related to defendant's motive in completing employees' withholding certificate. U. S. v. Stephen, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1978, 569 F.2d 860.

In prosecution for willful filing of false withholding exemption certificates with employer, evidence that defendant, in claiming total exemption from federal income taxes, falsely stated that he had incurred no tax liability for previous year was sufficient to sustain conviction. U.S. v. Grumka, C.A.6 (Mich.) 1984, 728 F.2d 794.

In prosecution for filing false withholding allowance certificates, error, if any, in admitting evidence of testimony and documents relating to total amount of wages earned by defendants during 1979 tax year was harmless where there was evidence that each defendant incurred tax liability for 1978, thereby precluding any legal claim for exemption from withholding requirements and expert testimony indicated that individual must be able to certify that he had no tax liability for previous tax year and that he anticipated no tax liability for current year in order to be entitled to claim exemption. U. S. v. Amon, C.A.10 (Colo.) 1981, 669 F.2d 1351, certiorari denied 103 S.Ct. 57, 459 U.S. 825, 74 L.Ed.2d 61.

Government may show willfulness in violation of tax crime statutes by presenting defendant's properly filed income tax returns or W-4 forms from prior years. U.S. v. Ferguson, C.A.7 (Ind.) 1986, 793 F.2d 828, certiorari denied 107 S.Ct. 406, 479 U.S. 933, 93 L.Ed.2d 358.

In prosecution for the willful filing of a false withholding certificate, defendants' 1974-1975 tax returns on which privilege of self-incrimination had been claimed in place of reported income constituted probative evidence of intent and were properly admitted. U. S. v. Anderson, C.A.5 (Ga.) 1978, 577 F.2d 258.

Evidence that defendant knew that he had to file income tax returns, that he knew he had made false statements on his W-4 forms and that he had overall purpose to evade taxes he knew he owed supported conclusion that defendant acted willfully in failing to file tax returns, filing false W-4 form and attempting to evade taxes. U.S. v. Foster, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1986, 789 F.2d 457, certiorari denied 107 S.Ct. 273, 479 U.S. 883, 93 L.Ed.2d 249.

Sophisticated taxpayer's deliberately executing forms to avoid tax withholding when he knew his earnings subjected him to tax liability satisfied willfulness requirement of this section. U. S. v. Quilty, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1976, 541 F.2d 172.

When a taxpayer intentionally makes a false statement on a withholding exemption certificate, lack of intent to defraud the government is not a defense to charge that taxpayer committed offense of willfully supplying false information on withholding exemption certificates. U.S. v. Kelley, C.A.9 (Wash.) 1976, 539 F.2d 1199, certiorari denied 97 S.Ct. 393, 429 U.S. 963, 50 L.Ed.2d 332.

Evidence, including withholding statements defendant supplied employer stating that defendant was exempt from income tax withholding, exhibits showing that defendant had been earning income during relevant time periods, and another exhibit showing that defendant did not consider the Internal Revenue Code legal, was sufficient to establish that defendant willfully disregarded her obligation to pay taxes and to have tax withheld from her earnings in violation of 26 U.S.C.A. § 7205. U.S. v. Ferguson, S.D.Ind.1985, 615 F.Supp. 8, affirmed 793 F.2d 828, certiorari denied 107 S.Ct. 406, 479 U.S. 933, 93 L.Ed.2d 358.

This section relating to fraudulent withholding of exemption certificate and to failure to supply information does not authorize assessment of costs in addition to fine, so that defendant who was convicted of violating this section should not have been required to pay the costs of prosecution. U. S. v. Ducharme, C.A.9 (Cal.) 1974, 505 F.2d 691.

Sentence to three months in prison, to be followed by a probationary term of two and one-half years, did not constitute a discriminatory abuse of discretion or cruel and unusual punishment, for making false statements on withholding certificates or withholding exemption certificates. U. S. v. Wilhelm, C.A.3 (Del.) 1978, 570 F.2d 461.

Merely because other defendants, some charged with the same offense of willfully supplying false information used by employer on employee's withholding exemption certificate, received lighter sentences did not invalidate sentence imposed on defendant.  U. S. v. Carter, C.A.5 (Tex.) 1978, 568 F.2d 453.

In prosecution for failing to file federal income tax returns and for supplying a false and fraudulent withholding certificate to employer, trial court properly imposed as conditions of probation that defendant disassociate himself from any organization that has as its purpose defeating the Internal Revenue Service laws, where court's reference to an organization having as its purpose "defeating" internal revenue laws would be construed to mean only organizations advocating disobedience, and prohibiting defendant's association with a specific named organization which had held meetings and presented speakers encouraging filing of protest federal tax forms. U. S. v. Lawson, C.A.10 (Wyo.) 1982, 670 F.2d 923.

Allegations in indictment, that taxpayer had willfully and knowingly attempted to evade taxation by filing false W-4 form and by failing to pay tax during tax years in question, were sufficient to satisfy standards imposed by Fifth and Sixth Amendments. U.S. v. Sloan, C.A.7 (Ind.) 1991, 939 F.2d 499, rehearing denied, certiorari denied 112 S.Ct. 940, 502 U.S. 1060, 117 L.Ed.2d 110, rehearing denied 112 S.Ct. 1518, 503 U.S. 953, 117 L.Ed.2d 654.

Where petitioner had not merely failed to file income tax return but had also filed false W-4 forms, thus committing "affirmative act" of misrepresentation, imposition of fraud penalty was justified, and fact that, also, petitioner did not cooperate with IRS agents during investigation was a factor militating against the taxpayer in such decision. Zell v. C.I.R., C.A.10 1985, 763 F.2d 1139.

The filing of false W-4 forms, thereby eliminating withholding, combined with failure to file tax returns for 1980 and 1981 established an intent to evade the payment of income taxes and justified the imposition of civil fraud penalties, even though taxpayer informed the Commissioner of Revenue that he was filing false forms in the belief that he was exempt from taxation; rejecting Raley v. Commissioner, 676 F.2d 980 (3d Cir.) and Zell v. Commissioner, 763 F.2d 1139 (10th Cir.). Granado v. C.I.R., C.A.7 1986, 792 F.2d 91, certiorari denied 107 S.Ct. 1378, 480 U.S. 920, 94 L.Ed.2d 692.

Government proved essential elements of tax evasion offenses; Government alleged in indictment and proved at trial that defendant had taxable income for the years in question and did not file any tax returns, indictment informed defendant of specific amount he owed, and Government proved acts of evasion such as filing false W-4 form with his employer or depositing monies in a bank account under a fictitious name, thereby concealing his assets. U.S. v. Spine, C.A.6 (Ohio) 1991, 945 F.2d 143.

Under applicable "objective test," Government proved that taxpayer acted willfully in evading or attempting to evade taxation, where defendant's knowledge of his legal duty to file correct W-4 forms and 1040 forms was made clear by his prior filings, and his intentional violation of the known legal duty was established by his filing of false W-4 forms and failure to file 1040 forms as well as by his advocacy of nonpayment of taxes to his neighbors;  "willfulness" was demonstrated by taxpayer's correspondence with IRS intentionally claiming that he was exempt from income taxation. U.S. v. Hart, N.D.Ind.1987, 673 F.Supp. 932.

The Fifth Amendment privilege was no bar to prosecution and conviction of tax protester for failure to file income tax return where basis of claim of privilege was his fear of repercussions from filing of false W-4 forms and his belief that prior tax investigation was ongoing. U.S. v. Malquist, C.A.9 (Mont.) 1986, 791 F.2d 1399, certiorari denied 107 S.Ct. 445, 479 U.S. 954, 93 L.Ed.2d 394.

In prosecution for willful failure to file income tax returns and for filing false W-4 statements, defendant's tax forms which preceded dates of his violations were relevant in determining defendant's intent in failing to file returns for subsequent years. U.S. v. Latham, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1985, 754 F.2d 747.

Also see 26 USC 7205

Evidence that defendant knew that he had to file income tax returns, that he knew he had made false statements on his W-4 forms and that he had overall purpose to evade taxes he knew he owed supported conclusion that defendant acted willfully in failing to file tax returns, filing false W-4 form and attempting to evade taxes. U.S. v. Foster, C.A.7 (Ill.) 1986, 789 F.2d 457, certiorari denied 107 S.Ct. 273, 479 U.S. 883, 93 L.Ed.2d 249.

Prosecution for conspiring to defraud the federal government and aiding and assisting in the preparation of false W-4 forms was not subject to defense that the forms actually filed were not potentially deceptive, where the case involved a number of taxpayers whose collective action was calculated to cause substantial disruption in the process of collection of income taxes and defendant claimed to have successfully persuaded some employers to accept the W-4 forms without reporting them to the IRS. U.S. v. Kelley, C.A.4 (N.C.) 1985, 769 F.2d 215.

Defendant's physically assisting wilfully false filings of codefendants' false W-4 forms violated aiding and abetting provision of this section, and such conduct constituted an endeavor to impede or obstruct due administration of this title within section 7212 of this title. U. S. v. Williams, C.A.8 (Mo.) 1981, 644 F.2d 696, certiorari denied 102 S.Ct. 150, 454 U.S. 841, 70 L.Ed.2d 124, certiorari denied 102 S.Ct. 151, 454 U.S. 841, 70 L.Ed.2d 124.

Federal court was without jurisdiction to enjoin Commissioner from collecting penalty imposed upon taxpayer for submitting a false W-4 form. Flowers v. C.I.R., W.D.Mich.1983, 573 F.Supp. 21.

There was no showing that government could not prevail on the merits of its claim that taxpayer had submitted a false W-4 form and was liable for a penalty and taxpayer was not subject to irreparable injury, as she could file a claim for refund after paying the tax, so that taxpayer could not avoid bar of this section with respect to efforts to enjoin collection of the penalty. Flowers v. C.I.R., W.D.Mich.1983, 573 F.Supp. 21.

Where employees had each completed numerous W-4 forms, it could be inferred that they were not confused as to whether they were "employees," and use of words "employee" and "liability" in this section requiring the filing of such forms did not cause this section to be unconstitutionally vague. U. S. v. Annunziato, C.A.9 (Wash.) 1981, 643 F.2d 676, certiorari denied 101 S.Ct. 3121, 452 U.S. 966, 69 L.Ed.2d 979.

Treasury regulation providing that a continuing employment relationship is not a prerequisite for a payment's qualification as "wages" for purpose of this section is not in conflict with this section; it furthers the purpose of this section and is reasonable; and it is a valid exercise of the rule-making power. Otte v. U. S., U.S.N.Y.1974, 95 S.Ct. 247, 419 U.S. 43, 42 L.Ed.2d 212.

Internal Revenue Service was entitled to apply payments between corporation's trust fund tax liability and nontrust fund tax liability as it chose, where corporation did not specify liability to which payment applied. Sotir v. U.S., C.A.1 (Mass.) 1992, 978 F.2d 29, certiorari denied 113 S.Ct. 1388, 507 U.S. 961, 122 L.Ed.2d 762.

Regulation requiring that collection of federal taxes on tips take priority over other claims on employee's salary was not unreasonable or plainly inconsistent with statute that it sought to implement. Foodservice and Lodging Institute, Inc. v. Regan, C.A.D.C.1987, 809 F.2d 842, 258 U.S.App.D.C. 1.

Treasury regulation requiring employer to deduct withholding taxes from employees' wages as and when paid carried out intent of this section and was valid exercise of administrative regulatory powers. Summers v. Looker, N.D.W.Va.1964, 231 F.Supp. 513.

Under article of treaty between Sweden and United States, alien's pension benefits were exempt from taxation in the United States, and hence from withholding. Holmstrom v. PPG Industries, Inc., W.D.Pa.1981, 512 F.Supp. 552.

§ 3401. Definitions
 

(a) Wages.--For purposes of this chapter, the term "wages" means all remuneration (other than fees paid to a public official) for services performed by an employee for his employer, including the cash value of all remuneration (including benefits) paid in any medium other than cash;   

(c) Employee.--For purposes of this chapter, the term "employee" includes an officer, employee, or elected official of the United States, a State, or any political subdivision thereof, or the District of Columbia, or any agency or instrumentality of any one or more of the foregoing.  The term "employee" also includes an officer of a corporation.

